Appendix E Analysis of Incomplete and Unavailable Information

Contents

E.1 Incomplete or Unavailable Information Analysis for Resource Areas	E-2
E.1.1 Air Quality	
E.1.2 Water Quality	
E.1.3 Bats	
E.1.4 Benthic Resources	
E.1.5 Birds	
E.1.6 Coastal Habitat and Fauna	E-4
E.1.7 Finfish, Invertebrates, and Essential Fish Habitat	
E.1.8 Marine Mammals	E-5
E.1.9 Sea Turtles	
E.1.10 Wetlands	
E.1.11 Commercial Fisheries and For-Hire Recreational Fishing	
E.1.12 Cultural Resources	
E.1.13 Demographics, Employment, and Economics	E-10
E.1.14 Environmental Justice	E-10
E.1.15 Land Use and Coastal Infrastructure	E-10
E.1.16 Navigation and Vessel Traffic	E-11
E.1.17 Other Uses	
E.1.18 Recreation and Tourism	E-11
E.1.19 Visual Resources	E-11
E.2 References Cited	E-12

In accordance with Section 1502.21 of the Council of Environmental Quality (CEQ) regulations implementing National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), when an agency is evaluating reasonably foreseeable significant adverse effects on the human environment in an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) and when information is incomplete or unavailable, the agency shall make clear that such information is lacking. When incomplete or unavailable information was identified, the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM) considered whether the information was relevant to the assessment of impacts and essential to its analysis of alternatives based upon the resource analyzed. If essential to a reasoned choice among the alternatives, BOEM considered whether it was possible to obtain the information and if the cost of obtaining it was exorbitant. If it could not be obtained or if the cost of obtaining it was exorbitant, BOEM applied acceptable scientific methodologies to inform the analysis in light of this incomplete or unavailable information. For example, conclusive information on many impacts of the offshore wind industry may not be available for years, and certainly not within the contemplated timeframe of this NEPA process. However, if this information is essential for a reasoned decision, subject matter experts have used the scientifically credible information available and generally accepted scientific methodologies to evaluate impacts on the resources while this information is unavailable.

E.1 Incomplete or Unavailable Information Analysis for Resource Areas

E.1.1 Air Quality

This EIS is missing air dispersion modeling results showing that actions will be under the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) thresholds. The Applicant submitted a standard Offshore and Coastal Dispersion (OCD) modeling protocol to the Maryland Department of the Environment (MDE) on September 16, 2022. MDE responded December 27, 2022, that an alternative modelling protocol should be used. All alternative modeling protocols require approval by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) Region 3. On January 26, 2023, the Applicant, USEPA, and MDE met to discuss the alternative protocol review and approval process. The approval process, including receipt of data from USEPA, is expected to take approximately 2 months from submission.

Avoided emission calculations do not conform to updated USEPA Port Emission Inventory Guidance (EPA-420-D-22-011, April 2022). However, the Applicant has utilized the BOEM Offshore Wind Energy Facilities Emission Estimating Tool, Version 2.0 (BOEM 2021) (BOEM Tool), which calculates the avoided emissions by using the EPA's AVERT modeling tool to obtain emission factors for the regional mix of conventional energy sources.

This EIS does not include an analysis of the social cost of carbon both with individual GHG (CO2, CH4, N2O) and with CO2e. However, the Applicant provided GHG emissions (CO2, CH4, and CO2e) from Construction and O&M.

Although a quantitative emissions inventory analysis of the region, or regional modeling of pollutant concentrations, over the planned project life (25-35 years) would more accurately assess the overall impacts of the changes in emissions from the Project, any action alternative would lead to reduced emissions regionally and can only lead to a net improvement in regional air quality. Pending issuance of an Outer Continental Shelf (OCS) air quality permit and confirmation that air dispersion modeling results show that actions will be under the NAAQS thresholds, the differences among action alternatives with respect to direct emissions due to construction, operation and maintenance (O&M), and decommissioning of the Project are expected to be small.

E.1.2 Water Quality

No incomplete or unavailable information related to the analysis of impacts on water quality was identified.

E.1.3 Bats

There will always be some level of incomplete information on the distribution and habitat use of bats in the offshore portions of the Wind Development Area, as habitat use and distribution varies among seasons and species. Additionally, because U.S. offshore wind development is in its infancy, with only two offshore wind projects having been constructed at the time of this analysis, there is some level of uncertainty regarding the potential collision risk to individual bats that may be present within the offshore portions of the Wind Development Area. However, sufficient information on collision risk to bats observed at land-based U.S. wind projects exists and was used to analyze and corroborate the potential for this impact as a result of the proposed Project. In addition, as described in Section 3.5 of the EIS, the likelihood of a bat encountering an operating wind turbine generator (WTG) during migration is very low and, therefore, the differences among action alternatives with respect to bats for the Project are expected to be small. As such, the analysis provided in this EIS is sufficient to support sound scientific judgments and informed decision-making related distribution and use of the offshore portions of the Wind Development Area as well as to the potential for collision risk of bats. Therefore, BOEM does not believe that there is incomplete or unavailable information on bat resources that is essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives.

E.1.4 Benthic Resources

Although there is uncertainty regarding the spatial and temporal distribution of benthic (faunal) resources and periods during which they might be especially vulnerable to disturbance, US Wind's surveys of benthic resources (COP Appendices II- B2, Suspended Sediment Transport Modeling Study Offshore Submarine Cable Installation; D4, Lease Area and Offshore Export Cable Corridors Benthic Report, 2021; D5, Onshore Export Cable Corridors Benthic Report, 2022; E1, Information to Support Essential Fish Habitat Assessment; K5, Preliminary Cable Burial Risk Assessment; and K7, Preliminary Cable Burial Risk Assessment Export Cable Corridor; US Wind 2022) and other broad-scale studies (Guida et al. 2017; Cutter et al. 2000; NOS 2015; BOEM 2011, 2012; Slacum et al. 2010; and Rutecki et al. 2014) provided a suitable basis for generally predicting the species, abundances, and distributions of benthic resources within the geographic analysis area. Uncertainty also exists regarding the impact of some impact-producing factors (IPFs) on benthic resources. For example, specific stimulus-response related to acoustics and EMF is not well studied, although there is some emerging information from benthic monitoring at European wind facilities and the Block Island Wind Farm in the United States that allows for a broad understanding of the impacts. Similarly, specific secondary impacts, such as changes in diets throughout the food chain resulting from habitat modification and synergistic behavioral impacts from multiple IPFs, are not fully known. Again, results of benthic monitoring at European wind facilities and the Block Island Wind Farm in the United States provide general knowledge of the overall impacts of these IPFs combined, if not individually. Therefore, the analysis provided in this EIS is sufficient to support sound scientific judgments and informed decision-making related to the overall impacts. For these reasons, BOEM does not believe that there is incomplete or unavailable information on benthic resources that is essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives.

E.1.5 Birds

Habitat use and distribution of marine birds varies between seasons, species, and years and, as a result, there will always be some level of incomplete information on the distribution and habitat use of marine birds in the offshore portions of the geographic analysis area. However, avian survey findings that cover the Project (see COP Volume II, Appendix II-N1; US Wind 2024) were used to inform the predictive models and analyze the potential adverse impacts on bird resources in the EIS. In addition, because U.S. offshore wind development is in its infancy, there will always be some level of uncertainty regarding the potential for collision risk and avoidance behaviors for some of the bird species that may be present within the offshore portions of the geographic analysis area. In place of this information, subject matter experts used the data and assumptions described below and, in the EIS, to create models to evaluate impacts, where it was determined that the information was essential for reasoned decision-making. Bird mortality data are available for onshore wind facilities and, based on a number of assumptions regarding their applicability to offshore environments, were used to inform the analysis of bird mortality associated with the offshore WTGs analyzed in the EIS. However, uncertainties exist regarding the use of the onshore bird mortality rate to estimate the offshore bird mortality rate due to differences in species groups present and life history and behavior of species as well as differences in the offshore marine environment compared to onshore habitats. Modeling is commonly used to predict the potential mortality rates for marine bird species in Europe and the United States (BOEM 2015, 2021). Due to inherent data limitations, these models often represent only a subset of species potentially present. However, the datasets used by both US Wind and BOEM to assess the potential for exposure of marine birds to the Wind Development Area represent the best available data and provide context at both local and regional scales. Additionally, because the U.S. offshore wind industry is in its infancy, there is uncertainty regarding the potential for fatal collisions and avoidance behavior for bird species present in the geographic analysis area. However, sufficient information on collision risk and avoidance behaviors observed in related species at European offshore wind projects is available and was used to analyze and corroborate the potential for these impacts as a result of the proposed Project (e.g., Petersen et al. 2006; Skov et al. 2018). As such, the analysis provided in the EIS is sufficient to support sound scientific judgments and informed decision-making related to distribution and use of the offshore portions of the geographic analysis area as well as to the potential for collision risk and avoidance behaviors in bird resources. Furthermore, the similarity between the layouts analyzed for the different action alternatives does not render any of this incomplete and unavailable information essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives. Therefore, BOEM does not believe that there is incomplete or unavailable information on avian resources that is essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives.

E.1.6 Coastal Habitat and Fauna

Although the preferred habitats of terrestrial and coastal fauna are generally known, specific data on abundances and distributions within the geographic analysis area of various fauna within these habitats are likely to remain unknown without site-specific surveys. However, the species inventories and other general information about the area provide an adequate basis for evaluating the fauna likely to inhabit the onshore geographic analysis area. Additionally, the onshore activities proposed involve only common, industry-standard activities for which impacts are generally understood. Therefore, BOEM believes that the analysis provided in this EIS is sufficient to make a reasoned choice among the alternatives.

E.1.7 Finfish, Invertebrates, and Essential Fish Habitat

Although there is some uncertainty regarding the spatial and temporal distribution of finfish and invertebrate resources and periods during which they might be especially vulnerable to disturbance, US Wind's aquatic resource surveys (e.g., COP Appendices II- B2, Suspended Sediment Transport Modeling Study Offshore Submarine Cable Installation; D4, Lease Area and Offshore Export Cable Corridors Benthic Report, 2021; D5, Onshore Export Cable Corridors Benthic Report, 2022; E1, Information to Support Essential Fish Habitat Assessment; K5, Preliminary Cable Burial Risk Assessment; and K7, Preliminary Cable Burial Risk Assessment Export Cable Corridor; US Wind 2022) and other broad-scale studies (e.g., Guida et al. 2017; BOEM 2014; NMFS 2017; and NOAA 2021, 2022) provided a suitable basis for general predictions of finfish and invertebrate resources with respect to species, densities, and distributions within the geographic analysis area. Additional information related to Endangered Species Act (ESA)-listed species and essential fish habitat (EFH) will be addressed in the forthcoming Biological Assessment (BA) and EFH Assessment. While impacts on these specific finfish and invertebrate species are not anticipated to vary from the general impacts provided in the EIS, specific impact discussion for ESA-listed species and EFH will be provided in the BA and EFH Assessment.

Uncertainty also exists regarding the impact of some IPFs on invertebrate resources, such as the effects of electromagnetic fields (EMFs) and underwater noise (e.g., generated from pile driving). The available information on invertebrate sensitivity to EMF is equivocal (Hutchinson et al. 2020), and sensitivity to sound pressure and particle motion effects is not well understood for many species, nor are synergistic or antagonistic impacts from multiple IPFs. Similarly, specific secondary impacts such as changes in diets throughout the food chain resulting from habitat modification are not well known for finfish and invertebrates. Where applicable, the assessment drew upon information in the available literature and an increasing number of monitoring and research studies related to wind development, other undersea development, or artificial reefs in Europe and the United States, several of which were recently drafted or published. These monitoring studies help provide a broad understanding of the overall impacts of these IPFs combined, if not individually. In addition, the forthcoming BA and EFH Assessment will include monitoring that will provide additional data with respect to potential impacts of the IPFs.

For these reasons, the information provided in this EIS is sufficient to support sound scientific judgments and informed decision-making related to the overall impacts. Therefore, BOEM does not believe that there is incomplete or unavailable information on finfish, invertebrate, and EFH resources that is essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives.

E.1.8 Marine Mammals

The National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) has summarized the most current information about marine mammal population status, occurrence, and use of the region in its current and draft stock status report for the Atlantic OCS and Gulf of Mexico (Hayes et al. 2020, 2021, 2022; NMFS 2023). These studies provided a suitable basis for predicting the species, abundances, and distributions of marine mammals in the geographic analysis area. However, population trend data from NMFS are unavailable for 31 out of the 39 marine mammal stocks known to occur in waters in the vicinity of the Offshore Project area (see Table 3.5.6-1 in the EIS). Most species lacking population trend data are offshore species, such as blue whale, fin whale, and non-porpoise odontocetes (e.g., beaked whales and dolphins). As a result, there is uncertainty regarding how Project activities and cumulative effects may affect these populations. In addition to species distribution information, effects of some IPFs on marine mammals are also uncertain or ambiguous, as described below.

Potential effects of EMF have not been scaled to consider impacts on marine mammal populations or their prey in the geographic analysis area (Taormina et al. 2018). The widespread ranges of marine mammals and difficulty obtaining permits make experimental studies challenging. As a result, no controlled experimental scientific studies have been conducted that examine the effects of altered EMF on marine mammals. Scientific studies summarized by Normandeau et al. (2011) demonstrate that marine mammals are sensitive to, and can detect, small changes in magnetic fields (Section 3.5.6 of the EIS), but potential impacts would likely only occur within a few feet of cable segments. Thus, the current literature does not support a conclusion that EMF could lead to changes in behavior that would cause significant adverse effects on marine mammal populations.

The behavioral effects of anthropogenic noises on marine mammals are increasingly being studied. However, behavioral responses vary depending on a variety of factors such as life stage, previous experience, and current behavior (e.g., feeding, nursing), thus are therefore difficult to predict. In addition, the current NMFS disturbance criteria apply a single threshold for all marine mammals for impulsive noise sources and do not consider the overall duration, exposure, or frequency content of the sound to account for species-dependent hearing acuity. While elevated underwater sound could startle or displace animals, behavioral responses are not necessarily predictable from received levels alone (Southall et al. 2007).

In addition, research regarding the potential behavioral effects of pile-driving noise has generally focused on harbor porpoises and seals; studies that examine the behavioral responses of baleen whales to pile driving are absent from the literature. Of the available research, most studies conclude that, although pile-driving activities could cause avoidance behaviors or disruption of feeding activities, individuals would likely return to normal behaviors once the activity had stopped Brandt et al. 2011, Dahne et al. 2013, Benhemma-Le Gall et al. 2021). However, uncertainty remains regarding the long-term cumulative acoustic impacts associated with multiple pile-driving projects that may occur over several years. This also applies to other project activities (e.g., vessel traffic, high-resolution geophysical (HRG) surveys, geotechnical drilling, and dredging activities) that may elicit behavioral reactions in marine mammals. As a result, it is not possible to predict with certainty the potential long-term behavioral effects on marine mammals from the Project-related pile-driving or other activities, as well as ongoing concurrent and cumulative pile-driving and other activities.

This assessment used the best available information when considering behavioral effects related to underwater noise to address this uncertainty. The NMFS acoustic thresholds (NMFS 2022) were used to better characterize the impacts of underwater noise (see Section Table 3.5.6-4 in the EIS). For the assessment of large baleen whales, studies on other impulsive noises (e.g., seismic sources) were used to inform the potential behavioral reactions to pile-driving noise (McCauley et al. 1998; Johnson 2002; Richardson et al. 1986). Monitoring studies would provide insight into species-specific behavioral reactions to Project-generated underwater noise. Long-term monitoring of concurrent and multiple projects could inform the understanding of long-term effects and subsequent consequences from cumulative underwater noise activities on marine mammal populations.

There is a lack of research regarding the responses of large whale species to extensive networks of new structures due to the novelty of OSW development on the Atlantic OCS. Although new structures are anticipated from multiple offshore wind projects under the planned actions scenario (see Appendix D in EIS), it is expected that spacing will allow large whales to access areas within and between wind facilities. No physical obstruction of marine mammal migration routes or habitat areas are anticipated, but it is unknown if avoidance of offshore wind lease areas due to new structures would occur. Additionally, while there is some uncertainty regarding how hydrodynamic changes around foundations may affect prey availability, these changes are expected to have limited impacts on the local conditions

around WTG foundations. The potential consequences of these impacts on marine mammals of the Atlantic OCS are unknown. Monitoring studies would provide insight into species-specific avoidance behaviors and other potential behavioral reactions to Project structures. Given this, BOEM has asked the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NASEM) to further evaluate this issue, with particular emphasis on assessing potential impacts to NARW prey availability.

At present, this EIS has no basis to conclude that these IPFs, with the uncertainties as noted above, would result in significant adverse impacts on marine mammal populations.

BOEM determined that the overall costs of obtaining the missing information for or addressing these uncertainties are exorbitant, or the means to obtain it are unknown. Therefore, to address these gaps as described above, BOEM extrapolated or drew assumptions from known information for similar species and studies using acceptable scientific methodologies to inform the analysis considering this incomplete or unavailable information, as presented in Section 3.5.6 of the EIS and in the BA submitted to NMFS (BOEM 2023). The information and methods used to predict potential impacts on marine mammals represent the best available information, and the information provided in this EIS is sufficient to support sound scientific judgments and informed decision-making. Therefore, BOEM does not believe that there is incomplete or unavailable information on marine mammal resources that is essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives.

E.1.9 Sea Turtles

There is incomplete information on the distribution and abundance of sea turtle species that occur in the Atlantic OCS and the Lease Area. The NMFS BA (BOEM 2023) provides a thorough overview of the available information about potential species occurrence and exposure to Project-related IPFs. The studies summarized therein provide a suitable basis for predicting potential species occurrence, relative abundance, and probable distribution of sea turtles in the geographic analysis area.

Some uncertainty exists about the effects of certain IPFs on sea turtles and their habitats. The effects of EMF on sea turtles are not completely understood. However, the available relevant information is summarized in the BOEM-sponsored report by Normandeau et al. (2011) and a more recent review by Bilinski (2021). Although the thresholds for EMF disturbing various sea turtle behaviors are not known, the evidence suggests that impacts may only occur on hatchlings over short distances, and no adverse effects on sea turtles have been documented to occur from the numerous submarine power cables around the world. In addition, no designated nesting beaches, critical habitat, or other biologically important habitats were identified in the offshore export cable corridor.

There is also uncertainty about sea turtle responses to proposed Project construction activities, and data are not available to evaluate potential changes to movements of juvenile and adult sea turtles due to elevated suspended sediments. However, although some exposure may occur, total suspended solid impacts would be limited in magnitude and duration and would occur within the range of exposures periodically experienced by these species. On this basis, any resulting impact on sea turtle behavior due to sediment plumes would likely be too small to be biologically meaningful, and no adverse impacts would be expected (NOAA 2020). Some potential exists for sea turtle displacement, but it is unclear if this would result in adverse impacts (e.g., because of lost foraging opportunities or increased exposure to potentially fatal vessel interactions). Additionally, it is currently unclear whether concurrent construction of multiple projects, increasing the extent and intensity of impacts over a shorter duration, or spreading out project construction with lower intensity impacts over multiple years would result in the least potential harm to sea turtles. There is also uncertainty regarding the cumulative acoustic impacts associated with pile-driving activities. It is unknown whether sea turtles affected by

construction activities would resume normal feeding, migrating, or breeding behaviors once daily pile-driving activities cease, or if secondary impacts would continue. Under the planned actions scenario, individual sea turtles may be exposed to acoustic impacts from multiple projects in a single day or from one or more projects over the course of multiple days. Although the consequences of these exposure scenarios have been analyzed with the best available information, some level of uncertainty remains due to the lack of observational data on species' responses to pile driving.

Some uncertainty exists regarding the potential for sea turtle responses to Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) hazard lights and navigation lighting associated with offshore wind development. US Wind would limit lighting on WTGs and offshore substations (OSSs) to minimum levels required by regulation for worker safety, navigation, and aviation. Although sea turtles' sensitivity to these minimal light levels is unknown, sea turtles do not appear to be adversely affected by oil and gas platform operations, which produce far more artificial light than offshore wind structures (BOEM 2019). The placement of new structures would be far from known nesting beaches, so no impacts on nesting female or hatchling sea turtles are anticipated.

Considerable uncertainty exists about how sea turtles would interact with the long-term changes in biological productivity and community structure resulting from the reef effect of offshore wind farms across the geographic analysis area. Artificial reef and hydrodynamic impacts could influence predator- prey interactions and foraging opportunities in ways that influence sea turtle behavior and distribution. Also, the extent of sea turtle entanglement on artificial reefs and shipwrecks is not captured in sea turtle stranding records and the significance and potential scale of sea turtle entanglement in lost fishing gear are not quantified. These impacts are expected to interact with the ongoing influence of climate change on sea turtle distribution and behavior over broad spatial scales, but the nature and significance of these interactions are not predictable. BOEM anticipates that ongoing monitoring of offshore energy structures will provide some useful insights into these synergistic effects.

BOEM considered the level of effort required to address the uncertainties described above for sea turtles and determined that the methods necessary to do so are lacking or the associated costs would be exorbitant. Therefore, where appropriate, BOEM inferred conclusions about the likelihood of potential biologically significant impacts from available information for similar species and situations to inform the analysis considering this incomplete or unavailable information. These methods are described in greater detail in Section 3.5.7 of the EIS, and in the BA submitted to NMFS (BOEM 2023). Therefore, the analysis provided is sufficient to support sound scientific judgments and informed decision-making about the proposed Project with respect to its impacts on sea turtles. For these reasons, BOEM does not believe that there is incomplete or unavailable information on turtles that is essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives.

E.1.10 Wetlands

No incomplete or unavailable information related to the analysis of impacts on wetlands was identified.

E.1.11 Commercial Fisheries and For-Hire Recreational Fishing

Fisheries are managed in the context of an incomplete understanding of fish stock dynamics and effects of environmental factors on fish populations. The commercial fisheries information used in this assessment has limitations. For example, vessel trip report data are only an approximation because this information is self-reported and may not account for all trips. The vessel trip report data also do not include all commercial fishing operations that may be affected by the Proposed Action and only represent vessel logbook data for species managed by the Greater Atlantic Regional Fisheries Office.

While these data include incidental catch of Atlantic menhaden, highly migratory species, or species managed by the NMFS Southeast Regional Office (e.g., wahoo and mahi mahi) when targeting other species, they are not a subset of total catch of these species within the Lease Area. Additionally, available historical data lack consistency, making comparisons challenging.

Vessel monitoring system (VMS) data are also limited, with a number of factors contributing to their limitations.

- VMS coverage is not universal for all fisheries, with some fisheries (e.g., summer flounder, scup, black sea bass, bluefish, American lobster, spiny dogfish, skate, whiting, and tilefish) not covered at all by VMS.
- There is limited historical coverage for most fisheries (e.g., monkfish is optional and elective on a yearly basis, 2005 or earlier for herring, 2006 for groundfish and scallops, 2008 for surfclams/ocean quahogs, 2014 for mackerel, and 2016 for longfin squid/butterfish).
- Trip declaration does not necessarily correspond to actual operation.
- Hourly position pings limit area resolution based on speed.
- Fishing time/location can be mis-estimated by operational assumptions (speed and direction) that are affected by externalities (weather, sea state, mechanical issues).
- Catch data are limited for there is no information on catch rates, retained catch composition is limited to target species and some bycatch species, and the data are not universal.
- Catch information is for the full trip, not sub-trips.
- Not all information is collected from all fisheries (gear type).

However, these data represent the best available data, and sufficient information exists to support the findings presented in this EIS.

A second limitation is that limited information is available regarding revenue exposure for for-hire recreational fishing in the Lease Area. NMFS completed a planning-level assessment of revenues from recreational party and charter vessels in the Lease Area (data which is presented in Section 3.6 of the EIS), but no information is available regarding recreational revenues from areas along the cable export route. However, BOEM does not believe that there is incomplete or unavailable information on commercial fisheries and for-hire recreational fishing resources that is essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives.

E.1.12 Cultural Resources

Due to the size of the offshore remote-sensing survey areas in the marine APE, the full extent or size of individual ancient submerged landforms cannot be defined. As such, differences among alternatives with respect to cultural resources cannot be fully known. However, US Wind has committed to avoiding and minimizing impacts to ancient submerged landforms and, if they cannot be avoided, BOEM will specify mitigation in the Record of Decision (ROD) to resolve adverse effects on the ancient submerged landforms. Archaeological surveys within the marine archaeology portion of the APE identified 18 shipwrecks, potential shipwrecks, or potential cultural resources in the Lease Area and in the vicinity of the Offshore Export Cable Route (Proposed Action and alternative routes), including 14 in federal waters and 4 in state waters (COP, Volume II, Appendix II-I1; R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates 2023a). However, these resources are assumed to be eligible, and US Wind will avoid all of the 18 shipwrecks, potential shipwrecks, and potential cultural resources as well as a 50-meter buffer around each resource. As a result, despite there being data gaps related to the specific nature of the

potential submerged archaeological resources, there is sufficient information available to avoid these resources, or to minimize or mitigate impacts if they cannot be avoided.

E.1.13 Demographics, Employment, and Economics

US Wind's economic analysis estimated the employment and outputs for the Proposed Action. In conjunction with available research and forecasts from other sources, this provided sufficient information for the evaluation of demographics, employment, and economics to support a reasoned choice among alternatives. There is some inherent uncertainty in forecasting how economic variables in various areas will evolve over time. However, the differences among action alternatives with respect to demographics, employment, and economics are not expected to be significant. Therefore, BOEM does not believe that there is specific incomplete or unavailable information on demographics, employment, and economics that is essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives.

E.1.14 Environmental Justice

Evaluations of impacts on environmental justice communities rely on the assessment of impacts on other resources. As a result, incomplete or unavailable information related to other resources, as described in this document, also affects the completeness of the analysis of impacts on environmental justice communities.

As discussed in other sections, BOEM has determined that incomplete and unavailable resource information for environmental justice or for other resources on which environmental justice communities rely was either not relevant to assess reasonably foreseeable significant adverse impacts, was not essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives, alternative data or methods could be used to predict potential impacts and provided the best available information, or the overall costs of obtaining the information were exorbitant or the means to do so were unknown. Therefore, the information provided in the EIS is sufficient to support sound scientific judgments and informed decision-making related to the proposed uses of the onshore and offshore portions of the geographic analysis area. Furthermore, the differences among action alternatives with respect to environmental justice are not expected to be significant.

E.1.15 Land Use and Coastal Infrastructure

Available data on land use and coastal infrastructure is generally adequate. Information sources on Ocean City Harbor, where the Applicant plans to establish a shorebase, are limited and consist primarily of aerial photographs and the most recent Worcester County Comprehensive Plan, from 2006. Worcester County's 2006 planning policies called for supporting and retaining marine commercial activities within the harbor area and there is no indication that the policies have changed (Worcester County Government 2006). Although there is a need for updated information on coastal infrastructure specifically for Ocean City Harbor, Maryland, BOEM believes that the information available is sufficient to make a reasoned choice among alternatives. BOEM does not believe that there is incomplete or unavailable information essential to the analysis of impacts on land use and coastal infrastructure.

E.1.16 Navigation and Vessel Traffic

The navigation and vessel traffic impact analysis in the EIS is based on one year's (January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019) automatic identification system (AIS) data from vessels required to carry AIS (i.e., those 65 feet [19.8 meters] or greater in length), as well as VMS data (to infer commercial fishing and recreational vessel transits). Fishing vessels at least 65 feet long were not required to carry AIS until March 2015 (80 Federal Register 5282); therefore, AIS data prior to March 2015 are more limited than data available after March 2015. To account for some gaps in the data due to limitations of the AIS carriage requirements, additional vessel transits were added to the risk modeling to account for both current and future traffic not represented in the data. For example, the number of non-AIS commercial fishing transits was estimated by increasing the number of tracks in AIS data by 50 percent to account for vessel transits not indicated in the data (i.e., those less than 65 feet in length) (COP Appendix II-K1; US Wind 2024).

The combination of AIS and VMS data described above with informed assumptions about smaller vessel numbers represents the best available vessel traffic data and is sufficient to enable BOEM to make a reasoned choice among alternatives.

As stated in Section 3.6.6 of the EIS, WTG and OSS structures could potentially interfere with marine radars. Marine radars have varied capabilities and the ability of radar equipment to properly detect objects is dependent on radar type, equipment placement, and operator proficiency; however, trained radar operators, properly installed and adjusted vessel equipment, marked wind turbines, and the use of AIS all would enable safe navigation with minimal loss of radar detection (NASEM 2022). BOEM does not believe that there is incomplete or unavailable information on navigation and vessel traffic that is essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives.

E.1.17 Other Uses

There is no incomplete or unavailable information related to the analysis of impacts on other uses.

E.1.18 Recreation and Tourism

Evaluations of impacts on recreation and tourism rely on the assessment of impacts on other resources. As a result, incomplete or unavailable information related to other resources, as described in this document, also affect the completeness of the analysis of impacts on recreational tourism. BOEM has determined that incomplete and unavailable resource information for recreation and tourism or for other resources on which the analysis of recreation and tourism impacts rely was either not relevant to reasonably foreseeable significant adverse impacts, was not essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives, alternative data or methods could be used to predict potential impacts and provided the best available information, or the overall costs of obtaining the information were exorbitant or the means to do so were unknown. Therefore, the information provided in the EIS is sufficient to support sound scientific judgments and informed decision-making related to the proposed uses of the onshore and offshore portions of the geographic analysis area.

E.1.19 Visual Resources

No incomplete or unavailable information related to the analysis of impacts on scenic and visual resources was identified.

E.2 References Cited

- Bilinski J. 2021. Review of the Impacts to Marine Fauna from Electromagnetic Frequencies (EMF) Generated by Energy Transmitted through Undersea Electric Transmission Cables. NJDEP Division of Science and Research. Available: https://dep.nj.gov/wp-content/uploads/offshorewind/docs/njdep-marine-fauna-review-impacts-from-emf.pdf.
- Benhemma-Le Gall, A., Graham, I.M., Merchant, N.D., and Thompson, P.M. 2021. Broad-scale responses of harbor porpoises to pile-driving and vessel activities during offshore windfarm construction. Frontiers in Marine Science 8. Doi: 10.3389/fmars.2021.664724.
- Brandt MJ, Diederichs A, Betke K, Nehls G. 2011. Responses of harbour porpoises to pile driving at the Horns Rev II offshore wind farm in the Danish North Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 421:205-216.
- Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM). 2011. Commercial wind lease issuance and site characterization activities on the Atlantic outer continental shelf offshore New Jersey, Delaware, Maryland and Virginia: Final environmental assessment. Edited by Office of Renewable Energy Programs.
- Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM). 2012. Commercial Wind Lease Issuance and Site Assessment Activities on the Atlantic Outer Continental Shelf Offshore New Jersey, Delaware, Maryland, and Virginia, Final Environmental Assessment. 366 p. Report No.: OCS EIS/EA BOEM 2012-003.
- Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM). 2014. Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement for Atlantic OCS Proposed Geological and Geophysical Activities in the Mid-Atlantic and South Atlantic Planning Areas. Office of Renewable Energy Programs. OCS EIS/EA BOEM 2014-001.
- Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM). 2015. Virginia Offshore Wind Technology Advancement Project on the Atlantic Outer Continental Shelf Offshore Virginia: Revised Environmental Assessment. Office of Renewable Energy Programs. OCS EIS/EA BOEM 2015-031.
- Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM). 2021. South Fork Wind Farm and South Fork Export Cable Project Final Environmental Impact Statement. OCS EIS/EA BOEM 2020-057.
- Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM). 2023. Maryland Offshore Wind Project, Biological Assessment, National Marine Fisheries Service.
- Cutter, G. R. Jr., R. J. Diaz, J. A. Musick, J. Sr. Olney, D. M. Bilkovic, J. P.-Y. Maa, S.-C. Kim, C. S. Jr. Hardaway, D. A. Milligan, R. Brindley, and C. H. III Hobbs. 2000. *Environmental Survey of Potential Sand resource Sites Offshore Delaware and Maryland*. Virginia Institute of Marine Science College of William and Mary. Available: https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/mmresearch/2022-03/2000-055.pdf. Accessed January 31, 2023.
- Dahne, M., Gilles, A., Lucke, K., Peschko, V., Adler, S., Krugel, K., Sundermeyer, J., and Siebert U. 2013. Effects of pile-driving on harbour porpoises (Phocoena phocoena) at the first offshore wind farm in Germany. Environmental Research Letters 8. Doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/8/2/025002.Guida V, Drohan A, Welch H, McHenry J, Johnson D, Kentner V, Brink J, Timmons D, and Estela-Gomez E. 2017. Habitat Mapping and Assessment of Northeast Wind Energy Areas. U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. OCS Study BOEM 2017-088. [updated 2013 Nov 01]. Prepared in Collaboration between Gulf of Maine Research Institute and University of Maine.

- Hayes, S.A., E. Josephson, K. Maze-Foley, and P.E. Rosel. 2020. U.S. Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Marine Mammal Stock Assessments 2019. Woods Hole, MA: U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service, Northeast Fisheries Science Center. Report No. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE-264. 479 p.
- Hayes S.A., E. Josephson, K. Maze-Foley, P.E. Rosel, and J. Turek. 2021. US Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Marine Mammal Stock Assessments 2020. Woods Hole, MA: U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service, Northeast Fisheries Science Center. Report No. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE-271. 394 p.
- Hayes S.A., E. Josephson, K. Maze-Foley K, P.E. Rosel, and J.E. Wallace. 2022. U.S. Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Marine Mammal Stock Assessment Reports 2021. Woods Hole, MA: U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service, Northeast Fisheries Science Center. May 2022. 386 p.
- Hutchinson ZL, Secor DH, and Gill AB. 2020. The interaction between resource species and electromagnetic fields associated with electricity production by offshore wind farms. Oceanography 33(4):96–107.
- Johnson, S.R. 2002. Marine mammal mitigation and monitoring program for the 2001 Odoptu 3-D seismic survey, Sakhalin Island, Russia: Executive summary. Report by LGL Limited, Sidney, BC, Canada, for Exxon Neftegas Limited, Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk, Russia. 49 pp.
- McCauley, R.D., Jenner, M.N., Jenner, C., McCabe, K.A., and Murdoch, J. 1998. The response of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaengliae*) to offshore seismic survey noise: preliminary results of observations about a working seismic vessel and experimental exposures. APPEA Journal 38(1), 692-707.
- Minerals Management Service (MMS). 2007. Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement for Alternative Energy Development and Production and Alternate Use of Facilities on the Outer Continental Shelf, Final Environmental Impact Statement. 4 vols. Report No.: OCS EIS/EA MMS 2007-046.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NASEM). 2022. Wind Turbine Generator Impacts to Marine Vessel Radar. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/26430.
- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). 2017. FINAL Amendment 10 to the 2006 Consolidated Atlantic Highly Migratory Species Fishery Management Plan: Essential Fish Habitat and Environmental Assessment. Silver Spring, MD. 442 p.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. 2022. Summary of Marine Mammal Protection Act Acoustic Thresholds. Available: https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/national/marine-mammal-protection/marine-mammal-acoustic-technical-guidance. Accessed June 12, 2024.
- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). 2023. Draft U.S. Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Marine Mammal Stock Assessment Reports 2022. Woods Hole, MA: U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service. June 2022. 147 p.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). 2020. Section 7 Effect Analysis: Turbidity in the Greater Atlantic Region. NOAA Greater Atlantic Regional Fisheries Office. https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/new-england-mid-atlantic/consultations/section-7-effect-analysis-turbidity-greater-atlantic-region.

- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). 2021. Status of Stocks 2020. Annual Report to Congress on the Status of U.S. Fisheries. 11 pp. Available: https://media.fisheries.noaa.gov/2021-05/2020%20Status%20of%20Stocks%20RtC_5-18-21_FINAL.pdf?null. Accessed November 17, 2022.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). 2022. State of the Ecosystem Mid-Atlantic. Available: https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/38949. Accessed February 2, 2023.
- National Ocean Service (NOS). 2015. NOAA/NOS and USCGS Seabed Descriptions from Hydrographic Surveys. Available online: https://www.ncei.noaa.gov/products/nos-hydrographic-survey. Accessed November 15, 2022.
- Normandeau Associates, Inc. (Normandeau), Exponent, Inc., T. Tricas, and A. Gill. 2011. Effects of EMFs from Undersea Power Cables on Elasmobranchs and Other Marine Species. OCS Study BOEMRE 2011-09. Camarillo, California: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation, and Enforcement, Pacific OCS Region.
- Petersen Lk, Christensen TK, Kahlert J, Desholm M, Fox AD. 2006. Final Results of Bird Studies at the Offshore Wind Farms at Nysted and Horns Rev, Denmark. National Environmental Research Institute, Ministry of the Environment, Denmark. Available:

 https://tethys.pnnl.gov/sites/default/files/publications/NERI_Bird_Studies.pdf.
- R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates. 2023. Marine Archaeological Resources Assessment for the Maryland Offshore Wind Project Located on the Outer Continental Shelf Block OCS-A 0490 and Offshore Maryland and Delaware.
- Richardson, W.J., Wursig, B., and Greene, C.R. 1986. Reactions of bowhead whales, Balaena mysticetus, to seismic exploration in the Canadian Beaufort Sea. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 79 (1117). Doi: 10.1121/1.393384.
- Rutecki, D., T. Dellapenna, E. Nestler, F. Scharf, J. Rooker, C. Glass, and A. Pembroke. 2014.

 Understanding the Habitat Value and Function of Shoals and Shoal Complexes to Fish and
 Fisheries on the Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico Outer Continental Shelf. Literature Synthesis and
 Gap Analysis. Prepared for the U.S. Dept. of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management.
 Contract # M12PS00009. BOEM 2015-012. 176 pp.
- Skov H, Heinanen S, Norman T, Ward RM, Mendez-Roldan S, Ellis I. 2018. ORJIP Bird Collision and Avoidance Study. Final report. The Carbon Trust. United Kingdom.
- Slacum, H.W., W.H. Burton, E.T. Methratte, E.D. Weber, R.J. Llanso, and J. Drew-Baxter. 2011.

 Assemblage structure in shoal and flat-bottom habitats on the inner continental shelf of the Middle Atlantic Bight, USA. U.S. Minerals Management Services. Ecological Sciences and Applications. Grant Number: MMS 1435-01-00-CT-85060. January 9, 2011.

 https://doi.org/10.1577/C09-012.1.
- Southall B.L., Bowles A.E., Ellison W.T., Finneran J.J., Gentry R.L., Greene C.R. Jr., Tyack P.L. 2007. Marine Mammal Noise Exposure Criteria: Initial Scientific Recommendations. Aquatic Mammals 33(4):411–521.
- Southall B.L., Bowles A.E., Ellison W.T., Finneran J.J., Gentry R.L., Greene C.R., Jr., Kastak D., Ketten D.R., Miller J.H., Natchigall P.E., et al. 2007. Marine mammal noise exposure criteria: initial scientific recommendations. Aquatic Mammals. 33(4):411-521. doi:10.1578/AM.33.4.2007.411.

- Southall BL, Nowacek DP, Bowles AE, Senigaglia V, Bejder L, and Tyack PL. 2021. Marine Mammal Noise Exposure Criteria: Assessing the Severity of Marine Mammal Behavioral Responses to Human Noise. Aquatic Mammals 47(5):421–464.
- Taormina B, Bald J, Want A, Thouzeau G, Lejart M, Desroy N, and Carlier A. 2018. A review of potential impacts of submarine power cables on the marine environment: Knowledge gaps, recommendations and future directions. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Elsevier, 2018, 96, pp. 380–391. 10.1016/j.rser.2018.07.026. hal-02405630.
- U.S. Coast Guard (USCG). 2020. The Areas Offshore of Massachusetts and Rhode Island Port Access Route Study. USCG 2019-0131. [updated 2020 May 14; accessed 2021 Oct 13]. https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/05/27/2020-11262/port-access-route-study-the-areas-offshore-of-massachusetts-and-rhode-island.
- Worcester County Government. 2006. The Comprehensive Development Plan Worcester County, Maryland. March 14, 2006. 96 pp. https://www.co.worcester.md.us/sites/default/files/departments/drp/finalcomp31406.pdf.